IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC03-1171

INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE, NO. 02-487 **RE: GREGORY P. HOLDER**

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

David B. Weinstein Florida Bar No.: 604410 Kimberly S. Mello Florida Bar No.: 0002968 **Bales Weinstein** Post Office Box 172179 Tampa, Florida 33672-0179 Telephone: (813) 224-9100 Telecopier: (813) 224-9109 Juan P. Morillo Florida Bar No.: 0135933 Steven T. Cottreau Specially Admitted **Sidley Austin LLP** 1501 K Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20005 Telephone: (202) 736-8000 Telecopier: (202) 736-8711

Counsel for Judge Gregory P. Holder

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

More than two and a half years ago, in July of 2003, the Florida Judicial Qualifications Commission ("JQC" or the "Commission") filed a Notice of Formal Charges ("Charges") alleging that Hillsborough County Circuit Court Judge Gregory P. Holder ("Judge Holder" or "Respondent") had plagiarized an Air War College ("AWC") paper and falsely stated that it was his original work. Among other things, the JQC alleged that Judge Holder violated 18 U.S.C. § 1001 [a felony], by making a materially false statement to the federal government. The JQC also alleged that the charged conduct "would demonstrate [Judge Holder's] present unfitness to hold the office of judge, and would warrant discipline, including, but not limited to, [his] removal from office." [Notice of Formal Charges, at App. 1.] The Commission also took the extraordinary step of issuing an Order to Show Cause "why the [JQC Investigative] Panel should not recommend to the Supreme Court that [Judge Holder] be suspended from office" while this matter remained pending. [Commission's Amended Order to Show Cause, at App. 2.]

To support its allegations, the JQC relied on a copy of an AWC paper submitted by E. David Hoard in 1996 ("Hoard paper") (Exhibit "B" to the Charges) and copies of a paper that contained significant amounts of material from the Hoard paper and which the JQC alleged was submitted by Judge Holder to the

1

AWC in 1998 ("purported Holder paper") (Exhibit "A" to the Charges). Judge Holder never contested that the purported Holder paper contained approximately ten pages of nearly verbatim text from the Hoard paper. Instead, he steadfastly maintained that the purported Holder paper was fabricated, most likely to discredit him because of his role as a cooperating witness in a federal criminal investigation of corruption at the Hillsborough County Courthouse ("courthouse corruption investigation").

The seriousness of the Charges, coupled with the factual and legal complexities of this case, required Judge Holder to retain experienced counsel, conduct extensive discovery, file and litigate (including full briefing and oral argument) numerous motions,¹ and secure experts regarding document

¹ Judge Holder filed the following motions on the referenced dates: 1) Motion in Limine to Exclude Testimony of David Leta (8/27/04); 2) Motion in Limine to Exclude All Documents Provided to the JQC by Jeffrey Del Fuoco (8/27/04); 3) Motion in Limine to Exclude All Documents Provided to the JQC by the United States Air Force (8/27/04); 4) Motion in Limine to Exclude Testimony of Jeffrey Downing (8/27/04); 5) Motion in Limine to Exclude Testimony of Jeffrey Del Fuoco (8/27/04); 6) Motion in Limine to Exclude Evidence on Best Evidence Grounds (8/27/04); 7) Motion in Limine to Exclude Evidence on Due Process Grounds (8/27/04); 8) Motion in Limine to Exclude Copies of the Purported Holder Paper on Authentication Grounds (8/27/04); and 9) Motion to Dismiss the Pending Charges or in Limine to Exclude the Purported Holder Paper and Hoard Paper Based on Evidentiary Improprieties (3/21/05). The JQC Hearing Panel did not rule dispositively on the evidentiary motions prior to trial. Instead, evidence at trial was taken subject to such motions, which were ultimately denied by the Order of Dismissal.

authentication, the creation of documents (*i.e.*, the purported Holder paper) using Photoshop® software, forensic computer analysis, and applied linguistics.

Formal discovery commenced in August of 2003, and continued for nearly two years. During this time, extensive written discovery was served, including six sets of interrogatories, three requests for production of documents, as well as requests for admission. Additionally, the depositions of at least 24 witnesses were taken in this action, many of whom resided outside the State of Florida. Judge Holder's counsel also conducted extensive informal discovery, including dozens of witness interviews, and secured over two dozen witness affidavits. Judge Holder also had to expend substantial resources attempting to obtain access to United States military personnel and Assistant United States Attorneys, who were critical witnesses in this case, because of the severe restrictions imposed by 28 C.F.R. § 1621, et seq., on a civil litigant's right to obtain the testimony of federal employees.

This case was tried from June 6 to June 14, 2005, before the JQC Hearing Panel, and included the testimony of more than 25 witnesses. During the trial, Judge Holder presented compelling evidence that the purported Holder paper was fabricated to retaliate against him for participating in the courthouse corruption investigation. [Bartoszak Tr. pp. 7, 12-13, at App. 3.]² On June 23, 2005, the Hearing Panel of the JQC voted unanimously to dismiss the charges against Judge Holder. [Order of Dismissal, at App. 4.] Research indicates that this is the first trial defense verdict against the JQC in almost twenty years.

On July 25, 2005, based on his successful defense of the Charges, Judge Holder moved this Court to enter an order awarding attorneys' fees incurred by him in the JQC proceeding. In support of his motion, Judge Holder relied on the well-settled common law doctrine [referred to in the Initial Brief as the *"Thornber* doctrine"], which requires that a public official be reimbursed at public expense following the successful defense of litigation that a) arises out of or in connection with performance of his or her official duties, and b) serves a public purpose.

² Pursuant to its September 8, 2005 Order ("Order"), the Court did not require the Commission to provide a trial transcript. However, Judge Holder's counsel obtained uncertified trial transcripts of certain witnesses' testimony, which are included in the Appendix to the Initial Brief and cited as "_____Tr. p. _____ at App. _____." While these trial transcripts are not certified, Judge Holder does not believe that the accuracy of the transcribed testimony cited by Respondent is reasonably subject to dispute. However, should such a dispute arise, Judge Holder will respectfully request an opportunity to supplement the record with a certified transcript.

In its response to Judge Holder's motion, the JQC conceded that a) the *Thornber* doctrine applies to these proceedings, and b) this litigation served a public purpose. [JQC Resp. p. 5, at App. 5.]³ The JQC's sole argument was that there was an insufficient nexus "with the performance of Judge Holder's official duties as a Circuit Court Judge to satisfy the first prong of the *Thornber* list [sic]." [JQC Resp. pp. 5-6, at App. 5.] Judge Holder subsequently filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of Respondent's Motion for Award of Attorneys' Fees as well as Respondent's Request for Oral Argument.

On December 2, 2005, this Court entered an Order granting Judge Holder's Request and ordering additional briefing on the following issues:

- a) The specific basis and authority for an award of attorneys' fees in this case;
- b) Any prohibitions or limitations with regard to a monetary award in this case including, but not limited to, issues of sovereign immunity or otherwise; and
- c) The joinder of any additional parties, if any, necessary or proper for a full determination of issues presented.

³ The Commission's Response to Respondent's Motion for Award of Attorneys' Fees will be cited as "JQC Resp. p. ____, at App. ____."

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Prior to and during his service as a civilian judge, Judge Holder had a distinguished career in the United States Air Force, beginning with his graduation from West Point in 1975. Judge Holder was one of 16 graduating cadets commissioned into the Air Force. He served at Eglin Air Force Base in Florida, where he concentrated in the study and development of armaments. Judge Holder was one of the youngest Air Force officers ever to receive the Meritorious Service Medal, as well as one of the youngest distinguished graduates of Squadron Officer School. [Holder Tr. pp. 8-14, at App. 6.]

After earning his MBA in 1978, Judge Holder was one of only 25 officers in the Air Force selected for the highly competitive Air Force Funded Legal Education Program. [*Id.* at p. 11.] He graduated in 1981 from Stetson University College of Law, where he served as an Associate Editor of the Law Review. [*Id.* at p. 14.] After graduation, Judge Holder volunteered to go to Korea, where he served as Area Defense Counsel. Following his tour of duty in Korea, Judge Holder was transferred to MacDill Air Force Base in Tampa, Florida. In 1988, Judge Holder resigned his active duty commission, joined the Air Force Reserves, and was assigned to U.S. Special Operations Command at MacDill. During his distinguished military career, Judge Holder was one of only five Air Force Reserve Officers in the world assigned as a Military Judge entrusted with jurisdiction over special and general courts martial. [*Id.* at pp. 21-38.]

Judge Holder was elected to the Hillsborough County Court bench in 1994, and to the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Court in 1996.⁴ While serving on the bench, Judge Holder continued to serve as an officer in the U.S. Air Force Reserve. In 1997, Judge Holder enrolled in the U.S. Air Force Air War College. To graduate, Judge Holder was required to pass a series of examinations and write a research paper. Accordingly, in late 1997 and early 1998, Judge Holder researched and wrote a paper on the Combined Bomber Offensive during World War II, for which he received a satisfactory grade, and subsequently graduated from the Air War College. [*Id.* at p. 78]

In 1999, Judge Holder reported to former Chief Judge Dennis Alvarez that certain judges were engaging in improper conduct. [Nasco Tr. pp. 17-19, at App. 8.] In July of 2000, Judge Holder's bailiff, Sylvia Morgan, discovered former Judge Robert Bonanno in Judge Holder's chambers, after normal business hours, while Judge Holder was out of state on Air Force Reserve duty. [Sylvia Gay's

⁴ Since taking the bench, Judge Holder has been described as a jurist of "unquestioned credibility and unassailable integrity and an officer of the highest possible standards of behavior." Aff. of Colonel John S. Odom, Jr., Mobilization Assistant to the Staff Judge Advocate, U.S. Air Force Reserve ("Odom Aff.") ¶ 8, at App 7.

(n/k/a Sylvia Morgan) grand jury testimony (Oct. 11, 2000), pp. 55-60, at App. 9.]⁵ Judge Bonanno left Respondent's chambers carrying unidentified documents. [*Id*.] Judge Holder reported this incident, and a law enforcement investigation ensued. [*Id.* at pp. 102, 105-07.] Ultimately, impeachment proceedings were commenced against Judge Bonanno and he resigned from office.

During 2001 and 2002, Judge Holder cooperated with the FBI in the courthouse corruption investigation. [Bartoszak Tr. pp. 4-5, at App. 3.] Because of Judge Holder's cooperation, the investigation's targets had motive and resources to seek retribution against him. [*Id.* at pp. 7-8] Indeed, these targets faced not just loss of position but potential incarceration. [*Id.*]

In early 2002, in the midst of the courthouse corruption investigation, Assistant United States Attorney Jeffrey Del Fuoco, who also served in the United States Army Reserve, claimed that an unmarked manila envelope was anonymously placed under his office door at the Army Reserve Headquarters in St. Petersburg. [Del Fuoco Tr., pp. 89, at App. 10.] Del Fuoco testified that the unmarked envelope contained an unsigned typewritten note to the effect that "I thought you would be interested in this," or "something should be done about this." [*Id.* at p. 10.] The note was purportedly signed "A concerned citizen," or "A

⁵ Transcript of Grand Jury Testimony of Sylvia Gay also is available in Supreme Court Case No. SC01-2078, Inquiry Concerning a Judge, No. 00-261, Re: Robert H. Bonanno.

concerned taxpayer." [*Id.*] The note allegedly accompanied a copy of the purported Holder paper and a copy of the Hoard paper (the "Papers"). [*Id.* at pp. 10-12.]

The United States Attorney's Office did not provide the papers to the JQC until December of 2002, approximately 11 months after it received them. Tellingly, the referral to the JQC occurred just weeks after Judge Holder wrote a letter to the Department of Justice Office of Professional Responsibility complaining about the lack of progress in the courthouse corruption investigation. [Bartoszak Tr. p. 8, at App. 3.] However, by that time, the purported note and envelope had inexplicably disappeared from the file in the United States Attorney's Office. [Del Fuoco Tr., pp. 50-52, at App. 10.] Consequently, the only evidentiary documents received by the JQC were the purported Holder paper and the Hoard paper.

However, notwithstanding the Commission's knowledge that the central issue in this case was whether the purported Holder paper was genuine, the JQC vigorously prosecuted this case despite the following facts:

• The JQC admitted that it had <u>no</u> witness who could testify based on personal knowledge that the purported Holder paper was an authentic copy of the actual paper that Judge Holder submitted to the Air War College [Commission's Response to Resp.'s 1st Req. for Admissions ¶ 1, at App. 11.];

- Both the note and the manila envelope (i) inexplicably vanished from the U.S. Attorney's Office and (ii) were never forensically tested for fingerprints, DNA, or otherwise to attempt to identify their source [Del Fuoco Trans., pp. 53-56, at App. 10.];
- No original of Judge Holder's actual AWC paper was ever bcated [Commission's Response to Resp.'s 1st Req. for Admissions ¶ 1, at App. 11.]; and
- Judge Holder and four third-party witnesses who saw Judge Holder's actual paper at or about the time he submitted it to the Air War College swore that the purported Holder paper was not genuine⁶ [Vento Dep. pp. 71, 73, at App. 12.]; [Affidavit of Lt. Col. James Russick ¶ 9, at App. 13.]; [Lawson Dep. pp. 15, 16, at App. 14]; [Nasco Tr. p. 13, at App. 8]; [Holder Tr. p. 76, at App. 6.]

Judge Holder incurred significant attorneys' fees in his successful defense against

the Commission's Charges, which he is entitled to recover based on the authority set forth below.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT⁷

Judge Holder is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees based on the wellsettled common law doctrine that a public official is entitled to be reimbursed at public expense following the successful defense of litigation that a) arises out of or

⁶ The depositions of John Vento and Ken Lawson were admitted into evidence during the trial due to their unavailability.

⁷ This is not an appellate proceeding. Therefore, Respondent has not included a section on the applicable standard of review.

in connection with performance of his or her official duties, and b) serves a public purpose.

Here, the Charges and the resulting litigation clearly arose out of or in connection with an attempt by an anonymous person or persons to interfere with Judge Holder's participation in the courthouse corruption investigation. Indeed, the overwhelming evidence at trial established the requisite connection to the courthouse corruption investigation, including the fact that the purported Holder paper was fabricated as a result of Judge Holder's participation in that investigation. Significantly, the Judicial Canons required Judge Holder's participation in the courthouse corruption investigation as part of his judicial duties. In addition, from the inception of this proceeding, the JQC maintained that the Charges were sufficiently related to Judge Holder's judicial duties to justify his suspension from the bench—despite the fact that the alleged conduct took place over five years earlier. Under these circumstances, this litigation clearly arose out of or in connection with the performance of Judge Holder's official duties.

Not surprisingly, the Commission has conceded the second prong of the *Thornber* test—that the litigation served a public purpose. From its inception, this proceeding has been highly publicized and viewed as inextricably entwined with the courthouse corruption investigation. Accordingly, the public clearly had an interest in, and the judiciary the responsibility to ensure, the proper functioning of

11

the JQC process as it related to these highly publicized Charges. Moreover, this litigation served a public purpose because a) the successful defense of Judge Holder resulted in an accomplished and respected jurist remaining on the bench; b) the overall functioning of the Circuit Court, as well as the interests of the attorneys and the litigants with matters pending before the judge, were not adversely impacted; and c) the litigation has not only restored or enhanced public confidence in Judge Holder's position as a jurist, but restored or enhanced public confidence in the judiciary.

Judge Holder's entitlement to attorneys' fees under this common law doctrine is not barred or limited by sovereign immunity or any other doctrine. This proceeding is simply not a suit against the State. Rather, the Judicial Qualifications Commission, an "element" of the State courts system, investigated and made the decision to institute this proceeding against Judge Holder. Indeed, to find that the doctrine of sovereign immunity applied in this circumstance would prevent Judge Holder from enforcing a right guaranteed to him by the law of this State. As a result, Judge Holder would have been forced to defend a complex, protracted, and very expensive case because of a State agency's deliberate decision to proceed against him, but without meaningful legal recourse for the significant expenses that he has necessarily incurred. Such an application would transform the doctrine of sovereign immunity into a sword not a shield in direct contravention of Florida law.

Finally, in determining Judge Holder's entitlement to reimbursement for his attorneys' fees under the *Thornber* doctrine, no additional parties are proper or necessary. If this Court rules that Judge Holder is entitled to reimbursement, the issue of a reasonable amount of attorneys' fees and an appropriate funding mechanism will become ripe for this Court's consideration. Likewise. no additional parties are necessary in order to determine the amount of attorneys' fees to be awarded. When the issue of an appropriate funding mechanism becomes ripe, the State Courts Administrator ("SCA") may have an interest in the proceeding, though Judge Holder does not believe that the SCA is a necessary party. This is based on the fact that this Court is vested with the responsibility of submitting budget requests to the legislature for the purposes of obtaining the necessary funding. Therefore, any funding necessary for an award of attorneys' fees should be requested by this Court, through its SCA who appears before the legislature on the Court's behalf.

ARGUMENT

I. JUDGE HOLDER IS ENTITLED TO REIMBURSEMENT OF THE ATTORNEYS' FEES INCURRED IN HIS SUCCESSFULL DEFENSE OF THE JQC'S CHARGES UNDER THE *THORNBER* DOCTRINE.

It is well-established under Florida law that a public officer is entitled to be reimbursed at public expense for the attorneys' fees incurred in successfully defending a lawsuit or misconduct charges while performing public duties and serving a public purpose. *See e.g. Thornber v. City of Fort Walton Beach*, 568 So. 2d 914 (Fla. 1990); *Estes v. City of N. Miami Beach*, 227 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1969); *Ellison v. Reid*, 397 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). As this Court has stated, "the purpose of the common law rule is to avoid the chilling effect that a denial of representation might have on public officials in performing their duties properly and diligently." *Thornber*, 568 So. 2d at 917. In order to be entitled to attorneys' fees, a public official must establish the following:

- 1. the litigation arose out of or in connection with the performance of his or her official duties; and
- 2. the litigation served a public purpose.
- Id.

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