IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

INQUIRY CONCERNING A

Supreme Court

JUDGE, NO. 02-487

Case No. SC03-1171

JUDICIAL QUALIFICATIONS COMMISSION'S ANSWER BRIEF

Thomas C. MacDonald, Jr. Florida Bar No. 049318 1904 Holly Lane Tampa, Florida 33629 813/254-9871 813/258-6265 Facsimile

General Counsel for the Florida Judicial Qualifications Commission

Charles P. Pillans, III Florida Bar No. 0100066 BEDELL, DITTMAR, DeVAULT, PILLANS & COXE, P.A. 101 East Adams Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 904/353-0211 904/353-9307 Facsimile

Special Counsel to the Florida Judicial Qualifications Commission

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Respondent waived the claim for attorneys' fees because it was raised for the first time in a post-dismissal motion.

The Respondent cannot prevail on his claim for attorneys' fees based upon the common law of Florida as established in <u>Thornber v. City of Fort Walton Beach</u>, 568 So.2d 914 (Fla. 1990).

The Respondent cannot satisfy the first prong of <u>Thornber</u> because the charges brought by the Judicial Qualifications Commission did not arise out of and were not in connection with the Respondent's official duties, but involved the Respondent's personal activities to advance his career as an Air Force Reserve officer. The Respondent's participation as an undercover agent in a federal corruption investigation is not a part of his judicial duties. In addition, Respondent's argument that there was a connection between the Respondent's participation as an undercover agent in a federal corruption investigation investigation and an attempt by unidentified conspirators to derail his participation

by fabricating the paper at issue was not the subject of a finding by the Hearing Panel or supported by the evidence.

The Respondent's conduct does not satisfy the second prong of <u>Thornber</u> because the conduct with which he was charged, plagiarizing a research paper for an Air Force Air War College course, was not done while serving a public purpose.

Respondent's claim may be barred by sovereign immunity if the Court determines that Section 111.07, Florida Statutes, has supplanted the common law adopted in <u>Thornber</u> because the statute is not applicable to the facts of this case.

Finally, the Commission is not aware of any additional parties that are necessary for a proper and full determination of the issues presented by the Motion for An Award of Attorneys' Fees.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Respondent Waived The Claim for Attorneys' Fees

Respondent did not plead an entitlement to attorneys' fees in his Answer, nor did he raise it in the three pre-trial statements he filed pursuant to orders of the Hearing Panel. The claim for fees was raised for the first time following the Order of Dismissal and for this reason, the claim should be treated as having been waived. <u>Stockman v. Downs</u>, 573 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1991); <u>Green v. Sun Harbor Homeowners' Association, Inc.</u>, 730 So.2d 1261, 1263 (Fla. 1998) ("Stockman is to be read to hold that the failure to set forth a claim for attorney fees in a complaint, answer, or counterclaim, if filed, constitutes a waiver."); <u>Concrete & Lumber Enterprises Corp. v. Guaranty</u> <u>Business Credit Corp.</u>, 829 So.2d 247, 249 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (parties cannot raise claims for attorney fees for the first time in a post-dismissal motion); <u>Precision Tune Auto Care, Inc.</u> <u>v. Radcliffe</u>, 815 So.2d 708, 712 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (no waiver of the pleading requirement where entitlement to fees is raised for the first time in a post-trial motion).

II. The Respondent is Not Entitled to Attorneys' Fees Under the Common Law of Florida

The Respondent bases his claim for attorneys' fees solely upon the common law of Florida citing as authority <u>Thornber v.</u> <u>City of Fort Walton Beach</u>, 568 So.2d 914 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Ellison</u> <u>v. Reid</u>, 397 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981)⁴. In <u>Thornber</u>, three Fort Walton Beach city council members sought reimbursement of their legal fees incurred in defending against a recall petition

⁴ The Respondent's Motion was also based upon Section 57.111(2), Florida Statutes, but he has abandoned that claim.

based upon their private meeting to discuss a pledge to clean up city government by seeking the resignation of the city attorney and dismissal of the city manager and their vote at a public city council meeting for resolutions calling for the attorney's and manager's resignations. This Court held that the council members were entitled to reimbursement of their attorneys' fees under the common law holding that public officials are entitled to representation at public expense in litigation arising out of or in connection with the performance of their official duties. This Court then noted that

unquestionably, the vote taken at the public meeting was within their official duties. There is a sufficient nexus between the firing of these employees and the Council members' official duties to satisfy the first prong of this test.

568 So.2d at 917.

In <u>Ellison</u>, the question was whether the Palm Beach County Property Appraiser properly expended public funds for the payment of attorneys' fees incurred by him in successfully defending charges of official misconduct before the Florida Ethics Commission. The charge was that the Property Appraiser improperly gave examination papers to his employees who were attending a training program sponsored by the Department of Revenue and plagiarized an appraisal report in order to obtain a

professional property appraiser's designation. The Circuit Court found that the expenditure for attorneys' fees was proper and the First District Court of Appeal affirmed because the Department of Revenue training program was required by statute to upgrade assessment skills in both state and local assessment personnel and "there is no doubt a valuable public purpose is served in protecting the effective operation and maintenance of the administration of a public office." (397 So.2d at 54). The District Court did not specifically address the issue of whether entitled to be reimbursed for Ellison was defending the plagiarism charge. See also Attorney General's Opinion 93-21, 1993 WL 361721 (Fla. A.G.), in which the Attorney General in answer to a question from a County Attorney stated that a County Judge was entitled to reimbursement from the State of expenses incurred in defending charges before the Judicial Qualifications Commission if "the proceedings arose out of or in connection with the performance of the judge's official duties ... "

The Charges Did Not Arise Out Of or In Connection With the Respondent's Official Duties

The Respondent claims that "the Charges and the resulting litigation clearly arose out of or in connection with an attempt by an anonymous person or persons to interfere with Judge participation in the courthouse Holder's corruption investigation". (Respondent's Initial Brief, p. 16). Although Judge Holder refers to himself as a cooperating witness in a federal investigation, he also describes his involvement "as participation undercover agent in the courthouse as an corruption investigation". (Respondent's Initial Brief, p. 21). The Respondent then makes the contention that his participation in the corruption investigation was a part of his official duties, under Canon 3D(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct, which provides that a judge shall take appropriate action when he receives information or has actual knowledge that a potential likelihood exists that another judge has committed a violation of the Code.

The Respondent contends that "overwhelming evidence at trial established the requisite connection to the courthouse corruption investigation, including fabrication of the purported

Α.

Holder paper". (Respondent's Initial Brief, p. 17). This "connection" was raised by the defense, not put in issue by the Commission, and was based upon speculation, not "overwhelming evidence". Moreover, the dubious contention ignores the substantial evidence as to why the paper was not a fabrication and even if it was, it was not done to discredit Judge Holder's participation in a corruption investigation.

The Respondent has cited favorable testimony supporting his contention that the Air War College paper was not written by him. (Respondent's Initial Brief, pp. 9-10). In so doing, he ignores the strong circumstantial evidence supporting the Commission's charges, including the following:

1. Respondent was a Lieutenant Colonel in the United States Air Force Reserve.

2. In 1997-98 the Respondent was enrolled in the Air War College at MacDill Air Force Base, Tampa, Florida, the completion of which was important for promotion to full Colonel.

3. As a requirement of the course, the Respondent wrote a research paper on the Anglo-American Combined Bomber Offensive in Europe During World War II (the "Holder paper").

4. The Respondent was the only member of the class who wrote on this topic.

5. On or about September 5, 1997, Colonel E. David Hoard, at the Respondent's request, faxed to the Respondent a paper he had written on the same topic in 1995 for an Air War College course (the "Hoard paper"). The fax cover page and the first two pages of the Hoard paper is in the Commission's Appendix at Tab 8.

6. Respondent has admitted that the handwriting on the cover of the Hoard paper, including changing the number and date of the course to the 1997-98 MacDill Air Force Base course and identifying the Respondent as the author, is his handwriting. (Commission's Appendix, Tabs 8 and 9, pp. 8-11).

7. The Hoard paper was retyped at the computer terminal of the Respondent's legal assistant, Lorraine Nasco, on or about December 5, 1997 and stored on the 1998 H drive backup tape of the Hillsborough County Courthouse computer network (the "H drive paper").

8. The Respondent cites the testimony of Lorraine Nasco that she typed the Air War College paper and the plagiarized paper is not the one she submitted to the Air Force (Respondent's Judicial Brief, p. 19), but ignores the evidence that in December 1997 Ms. Nasco was under stress and taking medication and described as "zonked out ... a wreck", that she

was so angry at the Respondent that she did not want to look at him or talk to him and just wanted out and that the courthouse records show that she was on vacation from December 22, 1997, with the exception of December 29th, through January 5, 1998, the day the paper was due. (Commission's Appendix, Tab 10, pp. 14-15).

9. When the paper was prepared, Respondent was transferring from the Juvenile to the General Civil Division of the Court, was physically moving his office and has admitted that it was a very stressful time, that it was very chaotic, that he had a tremendous workload and that his focus was different than on preparation of the paper. (Commission's Appendix, Tab 10, pp. 14-15).

10. Substantial portions of the H drive paper were incorporated verbatim, including typographical errors and unusual punctuation, into the Holder paper. (Commission's Appendix, Tabs 1 and 10, pp. 18-23).

11. The paper was due on January 5, 1998 and the Respondent has admitted that he went to his office at the courthouse on Sunday evening, January 4, 1998 to edit the paper on his computer (Commission's Appendix, Tab 9, pp. 17-19) and the Courthouse computer system shows that at 8:10 p.m. a file on

his computer was opened entitled "AWCPAPER", although there is nothing in the file.

12. The Respondent admitted that the Holder paper bears his signature. (Commission's Appendix, Tab 9, pp. 14-15).

13. The Holder paper bears the handwritten comments of Colonel William O. Howe, Jr., who was the grader of the 1997-98 MacDill Air Force Base Air War College research papers.

Although the Respondent asserts as a proven fact that the paper was fabricated as part of a plot or conspiracy to derail his participation as an undercover agent in the corruption investigation (Respondent's Initial Brief, pp. 17-18), the Hearing Panel made no such finding. Instead, the Hearing Panel simply found that the evidence "did not rise to the level of clear and convincing evidence of guilt".

In attempting to make the link between the paper and the Respondent's participation as an undercover agent in the corruption investigation, the Respondent ignores compelling evidence that there was no relationship, including the following:

> Judge Holder admitted that he discovered his paper missing in 2001 and, therefore, Judge Robert Bonanno who was seen in Judge

Holder's office in July of 2000 could not have taken the paper.⁵

- 2. The Respondent's participation in the investigation began in September of 2001.
- The Hoard paper, from which portions were 3. transposed and incorporated verbatim into the Holder paper, was stored on the courthouse backup tape in 1998, at least before three years the Respondent's participation in corruption investigation began. (Commission's Appendix, Tab 10, pp. 18-23).
- 4. The conspirators, according to the Respondent's theory, would have had to obtain the courthouse backup tapes from the safe in which they were stored, fabricate the 1998 backup tape by adding the Hoard paper to it and/or on all subsequent backup tapes and return them to the safe in the

⁵ The reference in Respondent's Initial Brief (p.7) to this incident is apparently to suggest that Judge Bonanno was involved in the conspiracy.

courthouse. (Commission's Appendix, Tab 10, pp. 18-23).

- 5. The fabricators would have to write a paper on Judge Holder's topic and then incorporate the portions of the Hoard paper that were fabricated on the backup tape. (Commission's Appendix, Tabs 1, 10, pp. 18-23).
- 6. The conspirators would have had to obtain grading comments in the handwriting of Colonel Howe, including unique grading marks and arrows drawn through the text, and then place them on the Holder paper where they are relevant to the text of the paper. (Commission's Appendix, Tabs 1 and 10, pp. 18-26).
- 7. According to John Vento, one of the Respondent's witnesses, there were a number of factual inaccuracies in the Holder paper (Respondent's Appendix, Tab 12, pp. 37-44) which the conspirators would have to have inserted into the paper knowing they were

incorrect and then inserting comments by Colonel Howe questioning their inaccuracies. (Commission's Appendix, Tab 10, pp. 19-25).

While the Respondent presented expert testimony that all of this is technically possible, the conspiracy theory requires a level of skill, knowledge, access and sophistication that seems beyond imagination and certainly dispels speculation that the Holder paper was fabricated because of Judge Holder's participation in a corruption investigation.

The Commission has never argued that the charges were related to Judge Holder's judicial duties⁶. The Commission charged that if the alleged "extra-judicial" conduct was proven, it would impair the confidence of the citizens of this State and the integrity of the judicial system and demean Judge Holder's judicial office in violation of the Canons of the Code of Judicial Ethics and would, therefore, warrant discipline. (Respondent's Appendix, Tab 1). In this regard, the conduct with which Judge Holder was charged is no different from charges

⁶ Special Counsel did not concede that the charges arose out of Judge Holder's official duties because of the argument that the Holder paper and the Hoard paper were stolen from the Judge's chambers (Respondent's Initial Brief, p. 17). Judge Holder kept his Air Force Reserve papers in a drawer in his desk at the

of illegal campaign contributions and misleading campaign reports, <u>In re Rodriguez</u>, 829 So.2d 857 (Fla. 2002); driving under the influence, <u>Inquiry Concerning Esquiroz</u>, 654 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1995); <u>In re Gloeckner</u>, 626 So.2d 188 (Fla. 1993); furnishing false information about an accident to a police officer, <u>Inquiry Concerning Fowler</u>, 602 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1992); or engaging in sexual activities in a parked automobile in a public parking lot, <u>In re Lee</u>, 336 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1976). All of this conduct has been held to warrant disciplinary action although it had nothing to do with the judges' judicial duties.

The Respondent cites Canon 3D(1)of the Code of Judicial Conduct which provides that "a judge who receives information or has actual knowledge that substantial likelihood exists that another judge has committed a violation of this Code shall take appropriate action." The Respondent then argues that his participation as an undercover agent was a part of his official duties. (Respondent's Initial Brief, pp. 16-17). This, however, overlooks the commentary to the Canon which makes clear that the "appropriate action" may include direct communication with the judge who committed the violation or other direct

courthouse (Commission's Appendix, Tab 9, pp. 13-14), but this had nothing to do with his judicial duties.

action, if available, or to report the violation to the appropriate authority or agency. The Canon, however, does not authorize involvement as an undercover agent in an ongoing criminal investigation. Indeed, such conduct may call into question Canon 5A(1), which provides that "a judge shall conduct all of the judge's extra judicial actions so that they do not cast reasonable doubt on the judge's capacity to act impartially as a judge."

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